FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/25/2023 12:02 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/25/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### DIVISION 2 COURT OF APPEALS NUMBER 102211-5 No. 57002-5-II

Chin Fu Chen and My Tieu Lao,
Petitioners

V.

Chuck E. Atkins, Sheriff of Clark County, and the Clark County Sheriff's Office, and Clark County, Washington,

Respondents

In the Matter of the Forfeiture of Personal Property to wit:

Bank of America Account # 2074: \$5,963.47 Bank of America Account # 1451: \$75,429.42 Bank of America Account # 2074: \$ 7,685.18

# PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

### A. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTIES

Chin Fu Chen and My Tieu Lao request review of the decisions designated in Part B of this motion.

All of the representations of fact below are based upon documents contained in the Court of Appeals record, but are not included in the Appendix hereto, due to the limitations under RAP 13.4(c)(9).

#### **B. DECISION**

### **Division 2, Washington Court of Appeals**

On September 20, 2022, Commissioner Eric B. Schmidt accepted review, Appendix Item 1, on only one of several issues raised by Petitioners: staleness of the information in the Search Warrant Affidavit supporting seizure of money from three bank accounts.

On May 9, 2023 the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion affirming the lower courts' decisions, Appendix Item 2.

Petitioners filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration which was denied on June 27, 2023, Appendix Item 3.

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where an affidavit for a Search Warrant states that Items to be seized (money in bank accounts) were withdrawn from the accounts years prior to issuance of the warrant, is the information stale, failing to establish probable cause to issue the warrant?
- 2. Where an affidavit for a Search and Seizure warrant alleges that money received in drug transactions had been deposited and removed from bank accounts years in the past, does a warrant which authorizes seizure of all funds currently in the bank accounts, regardless of source, violate the Particularity Clause of the United States Constitution 4th Amendment and Article I, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution?
- 3. In an affidavit for a Search and Seizure Warrant which alleges that homeowners have engaged in growing and selling Marijuana, does Washington law require that the source of the accusations be stated in the affidavit, under <u>Spinelli v. United States</u>, 393 U.S. 410, 21 L. Ed. 2d 637, 89 S. Ct. 584 (1969),?
- 4. Where an affidavit for a Search and Seizure warrant is invalid on its face for failure to comply with <u>Spinelli v. United States</u>, 393 U.S. 410, 21 L. Ed. 2d 637, 89 S. Ct. 584 (1969), should the Supreme Court properly exercise its discretion to consider the issues under RAP 2.5(a)(3)?
- 5. Does a trial court error by ordering forfeiture of the contents of bank accounts, due to insufficiency of evidence and without making any finding of fact as to what amount, if any of the funds in the account were received in drug transactions, and without identifying any specific drug transaction?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. On January 9, 2020, the Clark County Sheriff's Office raided the residence of Petitioners and seized a quantity of Marijuana plants, grow lights, \$ 6,300.00 in cash on hand, a pickup truck, tax returns and bank records.
- 2. Almost a year later, on December 11, 2020, Sheriff's employee John Luciano executed a Search Warrant, issued by Superior Court Judge Daniel Stahnke and seized all money on deposit in three bank accounts, totaling \$ 89,078.07. ("December 2020 Warrant").
- 3. The December, 2020 Affidavit for Search and Seizure Warrant contained no proof that any money representing drug proceeds had been deposited in the three accounts in 2020.
- 4. The December, 2020 Affidavit for Search and Seizure Warrant and the Search Warrant itself, did not distinguish between monies in the accounts representing proceeds from drug sales versus monies acquired lawfully.
- 5. On December 18, 2020, the Sheriff's Office mailed Petitioners a Notice of Seizure and Intent to Forfeit of the bank accounts' contents.

- 6. The Petitioners removed the forfeiture proceeding to Clark County District Court and moved for Summary Judgment, essentially a Motion to Suppress, which was denied by Judge Kristen Parcher with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, entered on July 29, 2021.
- 7. On June 30, 2021, prior to trial, the Sheriff relinquished \$ 30,242.30 of the \$ 89,078.07, leaving the amount in controversy at \$ 58,835.67.
- 8. At trial on July 9, 2021, John Luciano calculated that Claimants had deposited <u>and spent</u> approximately \$ 214,000 in "unreported income," prior to January, 2020, which he characterized as Marijuana sales proceeds.
- 9. Mr. Luciano hypothesized that unreported income had been received by Petitioners only on the basis that they had spent that amount in excess of lawful earnings from January 2016 to December, 2019.
- 10. At the beginning of 2016, Petitioners had \$50,551.84 in their bank accounts. At the end of December of 2019, they had \$58,835.67 in the accounts. Mr. Luciano omitted this information from his Affidavit.

- 11. On July 29, 2021, the Trial Court ordered that the entire remaining \$ 58,835.67 be forfeited to the Sheriff.
- 12. The Trial Court failed to make any Finding of Fact that any of the \$ 58,835.67 in forfeited funds had been received in exchange for Marijuana.

### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Supreme Court should accept review of this matter.

The Search Warrant was issued to seize property which, according to the affiant, had been removed from the bank accounts over a year earlier.

Further, the Trial Court ordered forfeiture of \$ 58,835.67, which the Court acknowledged could not be traced to drug transactions; on the theory that lawfully earned money can be seized in lieu of sales proceeds which had slipped through the Sheriff's hands years earlier. Therefore the forfeiture was based upon insufficient evidence.

### Issue # 1 Staleness

1. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the Superior Court's ruling, which affirmed the Trial Court, was in conflict with published decisions of the Court of Appeals, RAP 14.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals, the District Court and Superior Court all recited generalized vagaries about the concept of staleness, but failed to apply them to the affidavit in this case.

The courts cited <u>State v. Maddox</u>, 152 Wn. App 2d. 499, 506, 98 P. 3d 1199 (2004,) for the proposition that in order for the information in the affidavit to <u>not be stale</u>, the circumstances must support a "common sense determination that there is <u>continuing</u> <u>and contemporaneous possession</u> of the property intended to be seized."

Nothing in the affidavit established any continuing or contemporaneous presence of drug sales proceeds in the accounts after December 2019. The affidavit states that all hypothesized drug proceeds had been spent prior to January, 2020. Applying the "common sense" requirement of Maddox, supra, issuance of a warrant to seize property which was removed from the place to be searched over a year earlier makes no sense, and is in conflict with Maddox, and with State v. Young, 62 Wn. App. 895, 802 P.2d 829, (1991): "A period in excess of 1 year obviously casts doubt on the validity of the warrant..."

" It is not enough . . . to set forth that criminal activity occurred at some prior time. The facts or circumstances must support the reasonable probability that the criminal

activity was occurring at or about the time the warrant was issued. Sgro v. United States, 287 U.S. 206, 77 L.Ed. 260, 53 S.Ct. 138, 85 A.L.R. 108 (1932)" State v. Young, 62 Wn. App. at 903.

The rulings by the lower courts are also in conflict with <u>State v. Higby</u>, 26 Wn. App. 457, 460, 613 P.2d 1192 (1980), which holds that in cases of contraband (a small amount of Marijuana) the period of time in which information becomes stale is even shorter than for non-contraband. Proceeds of drug sales are, as a matter of law, contraband RCW 69.50.505(1)(g).

2. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Staleness of information in a Search Warrant affidavit is a question of constitutional magnitude, as it defeats a finding of probable cause.

"We have recognized an affidavit in support of a search warrant "must state facts so closely related to the time of the issuance of the warrant so as to justify a finding of probable cause at that time."..."The reason for this rule is that probable cause, with time, dissipates."

<u>State v. Winborne</u>, 273 S.C. 62, 64, 254 S.E. 2d 297 (1979.)

### **ERRORS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS**

The Court of Appeals, in finding that the information in the Affidavit for search Warrant was not stale, dramatically deviated from the four corners of the Affidavit. The Court did an erroneous analysis of the facts which was never argued at any level by the Sheriff's attorney, because the analysis was patently incorrect.

# A. Error in double-counting the amount of illicit sales proceeds.

The Court of Appeals erroneously read the affidavit as saying that the amount of alleged sales proceeds received by the Petitioners from 2016 through 2019 was twice the amount actually claimed in the affidavit.

### Specifically, the Court stated:

"Luciano's affidavit alleged that his investigation had determined that approximately \$60,000 of unreported income was deposited into Chen and Lao's bank accounts each year from 2016 to 2019 for a total of approximately \$225,000 of unreported income. During this same period, Chen and Lao both received legitimate income reported on W-2 forms that was deposited into the bank accounts and commingled with the unreported income.

In addition, Luciano alleged that account records showed that Chen and Lao's personal living expenses exceeded their W-2 reported income by approximately \$72,000 and their cash on hand and asset acquisitions increased by approximately \$154,000." (Emphasis added.)

Later In the opinion, the Court repeated this erroneous interpretation of the affidavit:

"First, Luciano's affidavit supports the common sense conclusion that proceeds from illegal activities were in Chen and Lao's bank accounts in January 2020. Luciano stated that from 2016 through 2019, Chen and Lao had \$225,000 in unreported income, spent \$72,000 more than their legitimate income on living expenses, and had \$154,000 in increased cash on hand and asset acquisitions. Although Luciano did not specify the amount of increased cash on hand, he clearly concluded that there was some amount of cash on hand in the bank accounts that related to illegal activities." (Emphasis added)

The Court erred by double counting the total of alleged sales proceeds over the four year period, and then assumed that some portion of the greatly inflated amount must still have been in the accounts a year later.

The Court recited that Mr. Luciano computed the total of sales proceeds at approximately \$ 225,000.00, but when Mr. Luciano broke that figure down into \$ 72,000.00 in living expenses and \$ 154,000.00 in asset acquisitions and cash on hand, the Court of Appeals apparently perceived it as additional illicit income.

The mistake is obvious, as Mr. Luciano repeats the \$ 225,000.00 figure in his conclusion on page 6 of the Affidavit:

#### "Conclusion

Documentary financial evidence shows that the married couple accumulated approximately \$225,000 of identified unreported Income. The only evidence as to the source of the unreported income is the illegal marijuana operation."

The affidavit does not state that Petitioners deposited \$ 225,000.00 into their accounts and also spent an additional same amount on personal expenses and asset acquisitions. The Affidavit claims that the expenses and asset acquisitions came out of the bank accounts, into which the sales proceeds had been deposited.

The totality of the unreported income (money subject to forfeiture) was calculated by Mr. Luciano by adding the money spent on living expenses (\$ 72,000.00 ) and asset acquisitions/cash on hand (\$ 154,000.00) in excess of W-2 income. That is why the total from the excess living expenses and asset acquisitions/cash on hand (\$ 226,000.00) almost precisely equals the conclusion as to drug sales proceeds (\$225,000.00.)

It appears that the Court erroneously inferred an incorrect amount of drug proceeds by adding the \$ 225,000.00 to the living expense/asset acquisitions /cash on hand figure, to effectually double the amount of sales proceeds over the period of 2016-2019, leading the Court to believe that the affidavit established that the bank accounts may have contained more unlawfully obtained money in January, 2020 than the \$225,000.00 already spent by the Petitioners.

### B. Error in assessing "cash on hand."

Next, the Court of Appeals erred when it concluded that:

Although Luciano did not specify the amount of increased cash on hand, he clearly concluded that there was some amount of cash on hand in the bank accounts that related to illegal activities." (Emphasis added)

The Affidavit says nothing about "cash on hand in bank accounts." The Court of Appeals erroneously mis-read the affidavit and added "facts" which did not exist.

Further, there is no such thing as "cash on hand" in bank accounts. Cash on hand is currency in one's possession. Bank accounts are not cash. The "cash on hand" referenced in the Affidavit was the \$ 6,300.00 seized on January 8, 2020. Obviously it could not have been in the bank accounts in January or December, 2020 since it was seized in the raid of January 2020.

# C. Error in assuming bank balances in December, 2015 and December, 2019.

The Court based its decision on the premise that:

"...the common sense inference is that the money was spent on a pro rata basis. Therefore, unless the account balances went to zero at some point after January 2020, some of the illegal proceeds necessarily remained in those accounts."

In doing so, the Court deviated from the facts stated in the Affidavit. Mr. Luciano never stated what the beginning balance and ending balance from 2016 through 2019 was. He never stated that there was any beginning balance, nor ending balance, and he definitely never investigated whether or not the bank accounts had or had not been drawn down to zero between January, 2020 and December, 2020.

Mr. Luciano chose his unique method of "accounting." He chose to conceal from the issuing magistrate two extremely important facts: the January 2016 opening balance and the December 2019 closing balance of the accounts, and the low balance, if any, in the accounts during 2020.

If Mr. Luciano had included the truth in his affidavit, that the accounts in January, 2016 held \$50,551.84 and ended in December 2019 with \$58,835.67, the issuing magistrate would have, or should have limited the seizure to the difference, \$8,283.83.

In the Search Warrant Affidavit, Mr. Luciano's' snap-shot method of calculation was based on the assumption that the only relevant facts were what happened in 2016 through 2019.

Because he chose to omit all other facts relating to money in the

bank accounts, the Affidavit must be read as establishing only those facts set out therein. His calculations were premised upon starting and ending up with an empty bank account.

The Sheriff cannot claim an inference that money other than that spent between 2016 and 2019 remained in the bank accounts after January, 2020, when the Sheriff himself concealed the facts known to him which would support or refute the inference.

By drawing a "common sense inference" that some speculative of amount of money from Marijuana sales transactions remained in the accounts after January, 2020, the Court of Appeals deviated from the four corners of the Affidavit.

# D. Error in relying upon Mr. Luciano's erroneous and conclusory statement of law or fact.

Petitioners repeatedly argued in their briefing that the Affidavit claimed that they had spent all sales proceeds prior to January, 2020. The Court rejected this argument:

But the affidavit language does not support this claim – Luciano did not state that Chen and Lao had spent all the illegal proceeds. In fact, he opined in the affidavit that "[a]ny bank balance represents illegal proceeds."

When Mr. Luciano "... opined in the affidavit that "[a]ny bank balance represents illegal proceeds," that was simply an erroneous conclusion of law. Mr. Luciano apparently believed that

money in bank accounts, regardless of source, can be seized and forfeited in total if the account was ever used to contain illicit proceeds; a view not shared by our legislature.

Further, even if perceived as a statement of fact, it is a bald, unsupported conclusion, which should have been ignored by the issuing magistrate and appellate courts. State v. Youngs, 199 Wn. App. 472, 400 P.3d 1265 (2017.)

Due to Luciano's failure to investigate any activity in the bank accounts for over a year, there was no factual basis in the affidavit for such a claim.

If Judge Stahnke gave any credence or weight to this curious statement, he abused his discretion as an issuing magistrate, and the Court of Appeals erred by doing the same.

### Issue # 2 Lack of Particularity

1. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved. RAP 13.4(B)(3).

The December 2020 Warrant violated the Particularity Clause of the 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment:

"...no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, ..., and particularly describing ... the persons or things to be seized."

The Affidavit for the December, 2020 Warrant purports to establish an amount of "approximately \$ 225,000.00" in drug proceeds already been spent. This estimate shrank to \$ 214,000.00 at trial.

No effort was made in the affidavit to quantify any amount of actual drug proceeds still in any bank account in December, 2020.

The issue, therefore, is whether law enforcement can obtain a Search and Seizure Warrant by alleging in an affidavit that Petitioners had received and already spent drug proceeds in the distant past, for the seizure of <u>all contents</u>, regardless of source and amount.

Under this affidavit and warrant, the Sheriff could have, and would have, seized a million, or two million dollars, regardless of source, if such was in the accounts. No limit was stated in the warrant, and neither the Bank nor Sheriff had information as to the amount or source of any contents of the accounts.

The Warrant was a blank check for seizure of all of Petitioner's funds from three accounts selected by the Sheriff for any amount found there.

If the Sheriff was searching for \$ 214,000 in drug proceeds, seen in the Petitioners' home years earlier, (and since spent) could he obtain a warrant to seize "all money, regardless of amount, source or origin" in said residence? That is exactly what happened here.

A blank check hardly describes with particularity the amount of money to be seized from a bank account. No bank would cash such a check, except, apparently, the Bank of America.

This Warrant placed no limit on anyone, neither the Sheriff nor the bank on how much money could be seized. Further, it left it totally up to the discretion of the Sheriff as to which accounts would be seized, because the Sheriff's employee simply listed three account numbers, without connecting them in the affidavit to any alleged deposits or withdrawals of drug proceeds.

A warrant which leaves the Items to be seized to the discretion of the police violates the Particularity Clause: "As to what is to be taken, nothing is left to the discretion of the officer executing the warrant." Marron v. United States, 275 U.S. 192, 195-96 (1927, 275 U.S. at 196.

The December 2020 Warrant, was a general warrant,

allowing seizure of an undefined and unlimited amount of money. Such warrants are abhorrent. Stanford v. Texas, 379 U. S. 476, 85 S. Ct. 506, 13 L. Ed. 2d 431 (1965).

# Issue # 3 Failure of the Affidavit to Show the Basis of Knowledge, under Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 21 L. Ed. 2d 637, 89 S. Ct. 584 (1969).

1. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The December 2020 affidavit sets out a summary description of a January, 2020 search of the residence of the Claimants, and a claim that certain Items were recovered, and conclusions therefrom that Petitioners were engaged in growing and selling Marijuana.

Nowhere therein does Mr. Luciano state the source of his information.

He fails to state whether his information came from his own knowledge, from a confidential informant, a "citizen" informant," another police officer or police report, or the basis of knowledge of any source.

Without this information, the affidavit fails to establish the existence of a Marijuana grow operation at all.

If a police officer presented an affidavit stating that "I wish to search a residence at X address which is being used to grow Marijuana illegally," a reasonable magistrate should say: How do you know that to be true? Tell me the basis of your knowledge." Mr. Luciano's affidavit in this case is no better than the example above.

Compliance with <u>Spinelli</u> is necessary to establish probable cause for issuance of a search warrant; therefore the issue is one of constitutional magnitude.

A search warrant affidavit which relies upon conclusory statements without establishing the basis for such conclusions is invalid on its face, <u>State v. Youngs</u>, 199 Wn. App 472, 400 P.3d 1265 (2017).

Issue # 4. Where an affidavit for a Search and Seizure warrant is patently invalid on its face for failure to comply with Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 21 L. Ed. 2d 637, 89 S. Ct. 584 (1969), should the Court of Appeals properly exercise its discretion to consider the issue under RAP 2.5(a)(3)?

1. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved. RAP 13.4(B)(3)

Petitioners adopt the arguments set out above as to the Spinelli defect in the December 2020 search warrant affidavit. The constitutional significance of the issue is undeniable.

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