FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/8/2023 12:45 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102211-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHIN FU CHEN AND MY TIEU LAO,
Petitioners,

v.

CHUCK E. ATKINS, SHERIFF OF CLARK COUNTY, AND THE CLARK COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE AND CLARK COUNTY, WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

DEBORAH R. WECHSELBLATT, WSBA #47417 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Clark County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Civil Division PO Box 5000 Vancouver, WA 98666-5000 Tele: (564) 397-2478

Email: deb.wechselblatt@clark.wa.gov

Attorney for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

- 1. Petitioners' fail to establish any conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and Supreme Court precedent. Similarly, Petitioners' fail to demonstrate that staleness of a search warrant affidavit is a question of constitutional magnitude. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(3).
 - A. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with Supreme Court precedent.

Petitioners raise this issue of error in regard the staleness decision only. In doing so, Petitioners reference three cases: State v. Maddox, 152 Wn. App. 2d 499, 506, 98 P.3d 1199(2004); State v. Young, 62 Wn. App. 895, 802 P.2d 829 (1991); and State v. Higby, 26 Wn. App. 457, 460, 613 P.2d 1192(1980).

Petitioners assert that the underlying decision is in conflict with *Maddox* and *Young* because it does not represent, "a commonsense determination that there is continuing and

contemporaneous possession of the property intended to be seized". Petition at 7. Petitioners do not, however, present the facts of *Maddox* and *Young* in a manner that establishes a standard for common sense in determining "continuing and contemporaneous possession", much less do Petitioners assert that such standard is indelible. More importantly, Petitioners do not state specifically that the underlying decision failed to apply the holdings in *Maddox* and *Young*. Instead, Petitioners simply assert that the underlying decision "makes no sense". Id. The fact that a court decision makes no sense to Petitioners does not create a conflict with state law. This Court need only look to the underlying decision to see that the commonsense standard presented in *Maddox* and *Young* was used by the Court of Appeals in their decision. See Appendix 1 of Petitioner's Petition for Review.

Petitioners further appear to argue that the passage of time cleanses the funds, such that the funds in the account at the time of seizure were legitimate. Under RCW 69.50.505(1)(g), no

property right exists in illegal proceeds. If no property right exists in illegal proceeds, then Petitioners had no lawful right to withdraw those proceeds from their accounts. If the Petitioners' added legal proceeds (reported income) to their accounts after January 2020 (date that illegal marijuana operation ceased), then common sense would dictate that withdraws from those accounts would need to exhaust the legal proceeds, to which the Petitioners had a lawful property right, before touching the illegal proceeds, to which Petitioners had no lawful property right. It is common sense that in the absence of proof that Petitioners' accounts were completely purged between January 2020 and December 2020, some if not all, the funds in those accounts would be illegal proceeds. Thus, the Petitioners' by and through their bank accounts were in continuing and contemporaneous possession of illegal proceeds up through the time of seizure.

Petitioners state that the underlying decision is in conflict with *Higby* because "Proceeds of drug sales are illegal to possess, RCW 69.50.505(1)(g), and therefore as a matter of law are

contraband." Petition at 8. Respondent cannot discern how that opinion gives rise to a conflict between the holding in *Higby* and the underlying Court of Appeals decision. Petitioners do not state how the holding in *Higby* applies to the facts of the underlying case or how the underlying decision creates a conflict with

Higby.

In the absence of some explanation for how the above referenced cases conflict with the Court of Appeals decision, this Court should find that Petitioners have not satisfied RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. Petitioners fail to establish how staleness is a significant question of law under either the federal or state constitutions as required by RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Petitioners also claim staleness of the search warrant is an issue of constitutional magnitude because this topic arises under

constitutional. However, it seems clear that error under RAP

13.4(b)(3) requires something more than simply being related to

constitutional law to make the issue constitutionally significant.

RAP 13.4(b)(1-4) appears to require a showing of probable or obvious error in the underlying decisions. Therefore, Petitioners need to show probable or obvious constitutional error in the Court of Appeals decision. Instead, Petitioners make a series of spurious and irrelevant arguments about how the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the search warrant affidavit.

Petitioners first claim the Court of Appeals doubled the amount of illegal drug proceeds. There is no support for this interpretation anywhere in the opinion. Even if the Court of Appeals somehow misunderstood the amount of money in the bank accounts attributable to drug proceeds, it does not change the conclusion there were proceeds from illegal drug activity in Petitioners' accounts at the time of seizure, which they have no legitimate claim to. The affidavit shows that \$169,000 in cash and money orders and \$75,000 in personal checks, totaling \$244,000 was deposited into the Petitioners' bank accounts in addition to their legitimate income.

Petitioners also conflate the terms "accumulate" and "spent." Accumulating drug proceeds and cash-on-hand from drug proceeds is not the same as spending drug proceeds. The affidavit does not state Petitioners "spent" \$225,000 of drug proceeds. Petitioners' "calculations" rely on an assumption of how the unreported income amount was calculated without having a basis to do so. This contention by Petitioners is an unsupported and strained reading of the affidavit. Petitioners also misrepresent that the drug proceeds were "spent" while legitimate income was somehow saved in the commingled bank accounts. Petitioners claim is in direct conflict with RCW 69.50.505, which states that no property rights exist in items subject to forfeiture.

Petitioners next argue the use of the term "cash-on-hand" in the Court of Appeals' opinion demonstrates the court misinterpreted the affidavit. However, Petitioners' understanding of cash-on-hand is flawed. Cash-on-hand includes money in a bank account. A search of the term "cash-on-hand"

shows it is a common term used in accounting that includes not only cash in the bank, but also any asset that can be converted to cash in the bank in 90 days.³ Petitioners incorrectly claim cash-on-hand equates only to physical currency. Petitioners attempt to redefine the term, or limited understanding of accounting principles, does not mean the court misinterpreted the affidavit nor does it make the affidavit stale.

Petitioners also claim the beginning bank account balance in 2016 and the ending balance in 2019 were required for a determination of whether legitimate or illegitimate proceeds remained in the bank account.⁴ This is a spurious argument. The affidavit states cash and money order deposits of \$169,000, along with check deposits of \$75,000, were commingled with legitimate income in the accounts. The affidavit shows the source

_

³ https://www.uschamber.com/co/run/finance/cash-on-hand-considerations-for-

businesses#:~:text=Cash%20on%20hand%20refers%20to,within%20less%20than%2090%20days.

⁴ Petitioners raised this argument for the first time in their Motion to Reconsider filed with the Court of Appeals.

of those deposits was illegal drug proceeds. Beginning and ending account balances do not change this fact. Petitioners further insinuate the beginning and ending account balances were not considered in Mr. Luciano's calculation of unreported

income without any evidence to support this claim.

The affidavit also shows that Petitioners benefitted from at

least \$225,000 in illegitimate gains. The funds seized from

Petitioners' account was less than \$90,000. Every dollar

remaining in the accounts as of December 2020 not in excess of

\$225,000 was illegitimate. If the accounts contained more than

\$225,000, there might be a question about staleness regarding the

additional funds, but that is not our situation. In this case,

Petitioners obviously did withdraw some of the drug funds

because the money remaining in the accounts was not equal to

the amount of unreported income.

2. Petitioners' fail to establish the search warrant lacked particularity. As such, they also cannot demonstrate there is a significant question of law under the state or

Petitioners state that particularity requires enough information in an affidavit to avoid an unconstitutional general

federal constitution as required by RAP 13.4(b)(3).

warrant. Petitioners then argue that something more than the

information in this case is required to avoid a general warrant.

Petitioners attempt to support that argument by stating that the

absence of a monetary figure in the affidavit or warrant

constitutes a blank check, which in turn makes the warrant

unconstitutionally general.

To overcome the particularity standard, the affidavit and

warrant must describe the place to be searched and the things to

be seized. U.S. Const., amend. IV. In this case, the affidavit and

warrant described the "place to be searched" by designating three

bank accounts, by number, in a specific bank. The affidavit also

described the "thing to be seized" as proceeds derived from

17

CLARK COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY
CIVIL DIVISION

1300 FRANKLIN ST., SUITE 380 * PO BOX 5000
VANCOUVER, WASHINGTON 98666-5000
(564) 397-2478 (OFFICE) / (564) 397-2184 (FAX)

violation of the State of Washington's Uniform Controlled Substances Act. The warrant was not a "blank check" because the proceeds subject to seizure were limited by the monetary figure presented in the affidavit in support of the search warrant. As such, the affidavit met the particularity requirements of Washington law.

3. Petitioners fail to show that Spinelli v. United States and the basis of knowledge test applies to the present case. Therefore, they also fail to demonstrate how a significant question of law under the state or federal constitutions is implicated under RAP 13.4(b)(3).5

Petitioners assert that the affidavit in this case fails to meet the requirements of *Spinelli v. United* States, 393 US 410, 21 L.Ed.2d 637, 89 S.Ct. 584 (1969), because it fails to establish a *source-of-knowledge*. On that basis alone Petitioners assert that this issue is constitutionally *significant*. For this argument to

⁵ Respondent addresses both of Petitioners *Spinelli* issues in this section.

have any merit this Court must first find that *Spinelli* applies to the facts of this case, which it does not. *Spinelli* is limited to a discussion of the appropriate standard to apply to statements of an informant. *Spinelli* at 393 U.S. 415. The statements in the December 2020 warrant came from a law enforcement financial investigator who swore to the facts presented in an affidavit, subject to penalty of perjury.

Case law makes clear that a party is generally prohibited from "setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal." *City of Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720, 58 P.3d 273 (2002) (*quoting State v. Pam*, 101 Wn.2d 507, 511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984)). Likewise, an issue raised for the first time on appeal is not subject to review unless it involves a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *State v. Kirwin*, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009) (quoting *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)).

State v. Scott is instructive on the construction courts should apply to the "manifest error standard." 110 Wn.2d 682,

685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). In *Scott*, the court held the proper approach to claims of constitutional error asserted for the first time on appeal is that '[f]irst, the court should satisfy itself that the error is truly of constitutional magnitude - that is what is meant by "manifest"; and second, '[i]f the claim is constitutional then the court should examine the effect the error had on the defendant's trial according to the harmless error standard. [...]" *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 688.

Ironically, after admitting failure to litigate the *Spinelli* issue at the trial court level, Petitioners boldly claim that doing so did not prejudice the Respondent. That assertion is inaccurate at best. Had this issue been addressed at the trial court level, Respondent would have been provided an opportunity to develop evidence and testimony to counter Petitioners' arguments; it is now foreclosed. Even setting this argument aside, Petitioners fail to demonstrate there was a manifest error affecting a

constitutional right under RAP 2.3(d)(2).

4. Petitioners' fail to establish an issue of substantial public interest that should be considered by this Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Petitioners place the issue of public interest before this Court on the premise that the underlying decision of the district court, superior court, and Court of Appeals established a disregard for property rights and the law. In support of that premise, Petitioners argue that *Tri-City Metro Drug Task Force* v. Contreras, 129 Wn.App. 648, 119 P.3d 862 (2005), requires tracing of drug proceeds to drug transactions, and that the district court's decision represented a departure from that requirement. The prior court decisions do not represent a departure from the *Tri-City* decision, much less a departure that gives rise to an issue of public interest.

The *Tri-City* decision requires *some* evidence of tracing. *Tri-City* at 653. In that case there was a point-in-time⁶ arrest of the claimant, and claimant's property was then seized because "it did not appear to be consistent with the legitimate income" documented by the Plaintiff. *Id* at 652. There was *no* evidence of any attempt by law enforcement to trace the seized property back to a specific drug transaction or a series of drug transactions, making the forfeiture of the property inappropriate. Contrary to the facts of *Tri-City*, our case involved ample evidence of tracing.

The district court acknowledged law enforcement's efforts in analyzing Petitioners' financial records as they might relate to

-

⁶ An informant notified law enforcement of claimants' participation in a possible drug transaction. Upon arrest, claimant was found to be in possession of 13 bags of marijuana. Subsequent search revealed some drug paraphernalia and methamphetamine. There was, however, no evidence of an ongoing drug enterprise or multiple drug transactions. *Tri-City* at 650.

income based off prior drug transactions. The district court then concluded that, "When viewed in conjunction with the illegal marijuana grow operated by Claimants, there is no rational basis for the additional income, except that is came from criminal drug-related conduct . . .". The court's finding and conclusion unquestionably recognize tracing of the property to a series of illegal drug transactions. No similar finding or conclusion is in the *Tri-City* decision. Petitioners do not demonstrate an error on the part of the district court or any appellate court that gives rise to an issue of public interest, nor do they explain how this very fact specific scenario is likely to occur again. As such, this Court should find that Petitioners have failed to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(4).

II. CONCLUSION

Petitioners' motion boils down to dissatisfaction with the underlying courts' decisions. This is not a standard upon which this Court may grant discretionary review. Petitioners have failed to satisfy any of the standards set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(1-4). For

that reason, Petitioners' motion should be denied in whole.

Certificate of Compliance-RAP 18.17

This response contains 3715 words